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OFACEOFTHESECRET~ 
FINRA Disciplinary Proceeding No. 20110269351 	 

DEPARTMENT OF MARKET REGULATION, 

Complainant 

v. 

JOHN CHERRY Ill 
(CRD No.1891720), 

Respondent. 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 

This is an application for review to the US. Securities and Exchange Commission of the 
disciplinary action taken by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA) through 
the Decision, dated March 3, 2015, issued by FINRA's National Adjudicatory Council 
(''NAC Decision") following its review of a FINRA Hearing Panel Decision, dated 
December 17, 2013 ("Hearing Panel Decision") in disciplinary proceeding No. 
20110269351. In summary, the basis for this appeal is as follows: 

• 	 the refusal to hear relevant or impeaching evidence, including the exclusion 
from evidence of Respondent's exhibits both prehearing and during the final 
hearing; 

• 	 the refusal to allow Respondent to cross-examine the alleged investors using 
real-estate related and other exhibits that could substantially impeach their 
credibility; 

• 	 the erroneous conclusion that the alleged investors were ''customers" under 
applicable FINRA Rules; 

• 	 the erroneous conclusion that the alleged investors intended to invest in 
securities; 

• 	 the erroneous conclusion that Respondent converted funds for personal use; 

• 	 the erroneous conclusion that that the alleged investors were entitled to 
restitution; 

• 	 the erroneous conclusion that disgorgement was appropriate in this case; 
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• 	 the erroneous conclusion that Respondent's conduct constituted securities 
fraud; 

• 	 the erroneous conclusion that Respondent failed adequately to disclose outside 
business activities; 

• 	 the grossly excessive sanction of a bar; 

• 	 the failure to address legal issues briefed on appeal, and the ignoring and failure 
to acknowledge contradictory evidence introduced and briefed on appeal. 

Respondent requests oral argument. 

Dated: April 2, 2015 
Respondent, 
John Cherry Ill 

By his attorney: 

Jeremy L. Bartell 
Bartell Law PLLC 
700 12th Street NW, Ste 700 
Washington, DC 20005 
jeremybartell@bartell -law.com 
(202) 430-1 040 
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Statement of Service 

On April2, 2015, I sent a copy of this document to the SEC and to FINRA at the follow ing 
addresses by UPS Overnight: 

The Office of the Secretary Celia Passaro 

Securities and Exchange Commission Office of General Counsel 

100 F Street, N.E. FINRA 

Mail Stop 1090- Room 10915 1735 K Street, N.W., 7th Floor 

Washington, D.C. 20549 Washington, D.C. 20006 

Jerem y L. Bartell 
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Fin ancia l In dustry Regulat ory Author ity 

Celia L. Passaro Direct: (202) 728-8985 
Counsel Fax : (202) 728-8264 

March 3, 2015 R 

VIA MESSENGER MA~ 04 2015 

Brent J. Fields, Secretary 
Secmities and Exchange Commission 
100 F Street, NE 
Washington, DC 20549-1 090 

OFFICE OF THE sECRETARY 

RE : Complaint No. 20110269351: John Cherry III 

Dear Mr. Fields: 

Enclosed please find the deci sion of the National Adjudicatory Counci l (''N AC") in the 
above-referenced matter. The FINR.A Board of Governors did not call thi s matter for 
review, and the attached NAC decision is the fina l decision of FINRA. 

Very truly yours, 

Celia L. Passaro 

Enclosure 

cc: Nancy Espinosa 

Inve stor protection. Market integri ty. 1735 K Street. NW 
Was hi ngt on. DC 

t 20 2 728 8000 
www.fin ra.org 

20006· 1506 



Financial Indust ry Regulatory Authority 

Marcia E. Asquith Direct: (202) 728-8831 
Senior Vice Presiden t and Fax: (202) 728-8300 

Corporate Secretary 

March 3, 20 15 

VIA CERTIFIED MAIL, ELECTRONIC MAIL, 
RETURN RECEIPT RE Q UESTED/FIRST-CLASS MAIL 

R~CE\VEDJeremy L. Bartell 
Bartell Law PLLC MAR 0 4 2015 
700 12th Street NW, Ste. 700 
Washington, DC 20005 OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY 

jeremybartell@ bartell-law.com 

Rc: Complaint No. 20110269351: John Cherry III 

Dear Mr. Bartell: 

Enclosed is the decision of the National Adj udica tory Council ("NAC") in the 
above-referenced matter. The Board of Governors of the F inancial Industry Regulatory 
Authority ("FIN RA") did not call thi s matter fo r review, and the attached NAC decision is 
the final decision of FINRA. 

In the enclosed decision, the NAC barred Jolm Cherry III (" Cherry") in all 
capacities . T he NAC further ordered that Cherry pay restitution to two customers in the 
amount of$ I 38,235.83 (along with prejudg ment interest o n any unpaid balance starting o n 
December I , 20 I 0, until restitution is paid in full) , and pay FINRA $300,000 in 
disgorgement (along with prejudgment on any unpaid balance starting on December I, 
2009). 

* * * 

Please note that under Rul e 83I l ("Effect of a Suspension, R evocation, 
Cancellation, or Bar"), because the NAC has imposed a bar, effective immediately Cherry 
is no t permitted to associate further with any FINRA me mber firm in any capacity, 
including a clerical o r ministerial capacity. 

* * * 

Pursuant to Article V, Section 2 of the FINRA By-Laws, if Cherry is currently 
employed with a member ofFINRA, he is required immediately to update hi s Form U4 to 
reflect thi s action. 

Cherry is also reminded that the fa ilure to keep FINRA apprised of hi s most recent 
aq~~JiM¥ctf61$.lM!rk~~~f}try of a default decision against him17M~frllet~ectjolb~7~sooo 

Washington. DC www.finra.o rg 
20006-1506 

www.finra.o
http:38,235.83
http:bartell-law.com
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the FINRA By-Laws requires all persons who apply for registration with FINRA to submit 
a Form U4 and to keep all information on the Form U4 current and accurate. Accordingly, 
Cherry must keep his member firm informed ofhis current address. 

In addition" FINRA may request information from, or file a formal disciplinary action 
against, persons who are no longer registered with a FINRA metnber for at least two years 
after their termination from association with a member. See Article V, Sections 3 and 4 of 
FINRA's By-Laws. Requests for information and disciplinary complaints issued by 
FINRA during this two-year period will be mailed to such persons at their last known 
address as reflected in FINRA's records. Such individuals are deemed to have received 
correspondence sent to the last known address, whether or not the individuals have 
actually received them. Thus, individuals who are no longer associated with a FINRA 
member firm and who have failed to update their addresses during the two years after they 
end their association are subject to the entry of default decisions against them. See Notice 
to Members 97-31. Letters notifying FINRA of such address changes should be sent to: 

CRD 
P.O. Box 9495 


Gaithersburg, MD 20898 


* * * 
Cherry may appeal this decision to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 

("SEC"). To do so, he must file an application with the SEC within 30 days ofhis receipt 
of this decision. A copy of this application must be sent to the FINRA Office of General 
Counsel, as must copies of all documents filed with the SEC. Any documents provided to 
the SEC via facsimile or overnight mail should also be provided to FINRA by similar 
means. 

The address of the SEC is: The address ofFINRA is: 

The Office of the Secretary Attn: Celia Passaro 
Securities and Exchange Commission Office of General Counsel 
100 F Street, N .E. FINRA 
Mail Stop 1 090 - Room 1 0915 1735 K Street, N.W., ih Floor 
Washington, D.C. 20549 Washington, D.C. 20006 

IfCherry files an application for review with the SEC, the application must identify 
the FINRA case number and state the basis for his appeal. Cherry must include an address 
where he may be served and a phone number where he may be reached during business 
hours. IfCherry's address or phone number changes, he must advise the SEC and FINRA. 
Attorneys must file a notice of appearance. 

The filing with the SEC of an application for review shall stay the effectiveness of any 
sanction except a bar. Thus, the bar imposed by the NAC in the enclosed decision will not 
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be stayed pending appeal to the SEC, unless the SEC orders a stay. Additionally, orders in 
the enclosed NAC decision to pay fines and costs will be stayed pending appeal. 

Questions regarding the appeal process may be directed to the Office of the Secretary 
at the SEC. The phone number of that office is (202) 551-5400. 

* * * 
If Cherry does not appeal this NAC decision to the SEC and the decision orders him to 

pay fines or costs, he may pay these amounts after the 30-day period for appeal to the SEC 
has passed. Any fines and costs assessed should be paid (via regular mail) to FINRA, P.0. 
Box 418911, Boston, MA 02241 or (via overnight delivery) to Bank of America Lock box 
Services, FINRA 418911 MA5-527-02-07, 2 Morrissey Blvd., Dorchester, MA 02125. 

Very truly yours, 

~1·ktJh-
Senior Vice President and Corporate Secretary 

cc: John Cherry III, 2327 Kettle Drive, Orlando, Florida 32835 (Address provided on 
previously filed correspondence) 

Jolm Cherry III, 163 Morningside Ave., Apt. 2A, New York, New York 10027 (CRD 
Address) 

Gary Jackson 
James Nixon 
Manuel Yanez 



BEFORE THE NATIONAL ADJUDICATORY COUNCIL 


FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY 


In the Matter of 

Department of Market Regulation, 

Complainant, 

vs. 

John Cherry, III 
Orlando, FL, 

Respondent. 

DECISION 

Complaint No. 20110269351 

Dated: March 3, 20 15 

1 RECE\VED I 
M"R 04 2015 

(OfF\CE OF tHE SeCREtARY 1-


The respondent misused and converted customer funds, committed securities 
fraud, and engaged in outside business activities without disclosure to his 
firm. Held, fmdings and sanctions modified. 

Appearances 

For the Complainant: Gary Jackson, Esq., Department of Market Regulation, Financial Industry 
Regulatory Authority 

For the Respondent: Jeremy L. Bartell, Esq. 

Decision 

Pursuant to FINRA Rule 9311, John Cherry, III ("Cherry") appeals a December 17, 2013 
Hearing Panel decision. The Hearing Panel found that Cherry misused and converted customer 
funds for his own benefit in violation ofNASD Rule 2330(a) and FINRA Rules 2150(a) and 
2010 and barred him from associating with a FINRA member firm in any capacity. 1 The 
Hearing Panel also ordered him to pay restitution in the amount of$174,000 plus interest, and 
ordered him to pay FINRA $300,000 in disgorgement. The Hearing Panel further found that 
Cherry willfully violated§ lO{b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), 
Exchange Act Rule 1 Ob-5, and FINRA Rule 2020, and that these violations constituted an 

The conduct rules that apply to this case are those that existed at the time of the conduct 
at issue. 
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alternative basis for the sanctions imposed. Finally, the Hearing Panel found that Cherry 
engaged in outside business activities without the required written disclosure to his firm in 
violation ofNASD Rule 3030 and FINRA Rules 3270 and 2010, and imposed a separate bar tor 
these violations. 

After an independent review of the record, we modify the findings and sanctions. We 
find that Cherry converted customer funds, and that this misconduct constituted an independent 
violation ofFINRA Rule 2010, as well as a violation ofNASD Rule 2330(a) and FINRA Rule 
2150(a).2 We also find that Cherry engaged in deceptive conduct that violated Exchange Act§ 
1O(b), Exchange Act Rule 1 Ob-5, and FINRA Rules 2020 and 2010, and that these violations 
constitute an alternative basis for the sanctions imposed. In connection with this deceptive 
conduct and conversion of customer funds, Cherry engaged in outside business activities that he 
failed to disclose to his finn in violation ofNASD Rule 3030 and FINRA Rules 3270 and 2010. 
We find that a bar is the appropriate sanction for conversion, and a separate bar is appropriate for 
Cherry's outside business activities. We modify the award of restitution to account for payments 
made by Cherry to his customers, and modify the disgorgement order to include prejudgment 
interest. 

I. Background 

Cherry entered the securities industry in February 2002. Cherry was registered as a 
general securities representative with World Group Securities, Inc. {"WGS"), an affiliate of 
World Financial Group, Inc. ("World Financial"), from April 2002 to April 2011. On April 18, 
2011, WGS filed a Uniform Termination Notice for Securities Industry Registration ("Form 
US") terminating Cherry's registration because Cherry "was not believed to have been fully 
forthcoming with WGS" regarding its investigation of the conduct at issue in this proceeding. 
Cherry is not currently associated with any FINRA member finn. 

II. Procedural History 

On July 25,2012, FINRA's Department ofMarket Regulation ("Market Regulation") 
filed a two-cause complaint against Cherry. The first cause alleged that Cherry misused and 
converted customer funds and committed fraud in violation ofNASD Rule 2330(a), FINRA 
Rules 2150(a), 2020 and 2010, and Exchange Act§ lO(b) and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5. The 
crux ofMarket Regulation's allegations was that Cherry misused and converted customer funds 
to purchase a home titled in his wife's name. Cause two alleged that Cherry failed to disclose 
outside business activities to his finn in violation ofNASD Rule 3030 and FINRA Rules 3270 
and 2010. Cherry answered the complaint, denying the allegations and asserting several 
affirmative defenses. 

The Hearing Panel found a violation ofFINRA Rule 2010 solely predicated on Cherry's 
violation ofNASD Rule 2330(a) and FINRA Rule 2150(a). As discussed below, however, it is 
well-settled that conversion constitutes an independent violation ofFINRA Rule 2010. 
Accordingly, we modify the findings to include this additional violation. 

2 
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On December 17, 2013, after a two-day hearing, the Hearing Panel issued a decision 
finding that Cherry had converted customer funds in violation ofNASD Rule 2330(a) and 
FINRA Rules 2150( a) and 20 I 0. The Hearing Panel imposed a bar for his conversion, and 
ordered Cherry to pay his customers$ I 74,000 in restitution, plus prejudgment interest, and to 
pay FINRA $300,000 in disgorgetnent. The Hearing Panel also found that Cherry violated 
Exchange Act§ lO(b), Exchange Act Rule IOb-5, and FINRA Rule 2020, and that these 
violations provided an alternative basis for the sanctions imposed. Finally, the Hearing Panel 
found that Cherry engaged in outside business activities that were not disclosed to his firm when 
he used family-owned businesses to obtain customer funds, and that this tnisconduct violated 
NASD Rule 3030 and FINRA Rules 3270 and 2010. The Hearing Panel imposed a second bar 
for Cherry's outside business activities. Cherry's appeal followed. 

III. Facts 

A. Cherry Meets BD and DO and Solicits Them to Invest in a Portfolio of Securities 

In early 2009, Cherry was introduced to DO by a childhood friend of DO's who had 
recently joined WGS and was working under Cherry. At the titne, DD and her mother, BD, 
owned and operated a real estate brokerage business, Home Sales. The real estate business had 
been founded by BD's deceased husband, but BD and DD had continued to operate it after his 
death. By 2009, the real estate market was not doing well, and BD and DO were looking for 
ways to supplement their income and diversify their investments. BD and DD wanted 
investments that would generate monthly income for BD, who was planning to retire. BD and 
DD testified that they pooled their assets and held a bank account together in the name of their 
business, Home Sales. 

In April2009, DD met with Cherry in person for the first time at his home in Orlando, 
Florida (the "Florida House"). 3 Later that month, BD met with Cherry at the Florida House. 
Both DO and BD also met with Cherry at WGS 's Brooklyn, New York office. Like Cherry, both 
DD and BD lived part of the time in Florida and part of the time in New York City. 

During their initial meetings, DD and BD discussed their financial situation and goals 
with Cherry. In addition, Cherry provided to both a "Dream Map," which was a WGS marketing 
tool on which a customer would provide information about her assets, liabilities and financial 
goals for the purpose ofreceiving appropriate investment recommendations. BD and DD each 
completed a Dream Map. Cherry presented them with the results that referred to various 
investment products offered by WGS, including securities, but nowhere mentioned investments 
in real estate. 

DD and BD testified that they discussed with Cherry investing in a portfolio of securities 
that Cherry would choose. Accordingly, at Cherry's direction, they made a number of deposits 

Cherry and his wife were living in the Florida House at the time, but did not own the 
house. 

3 
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with an entity called the Cherry Group Unlimited, LLC (the "Cherry Group"). The Cherry 
Group was a Cherry family-owned, New York limited liability company first formed by Cherry 
in 2002 under the name Amplusall, LLC. In 2007, Cherry changed its name to the Cherry 
Group. During the relevant time period, Cherry was a metnber and the registered agent for the 
Cherry Group, and his wife was listed as a tnanager. 

The first payment BD and DD made to the Cherry Group was a cashier's check dated 
April23, 2009, for $100,000 drawn on the Home Sales account. A second paytnent of$250,000 
was made to the Cherry Group with a check dated June 12, 2009, also drawn on the Home Sales 
account. A third payment of$74,000 was made to the Cherry Group by wire transfer from the 
Home Sales account on June 30, 2009. In December 2009, Cherry assisted BD in obtaining a 
reverse mottgage on her home, and a fourth deposit of$50,000 was made to the Cherry Group 
frotn the loan proceeds. Accordingly, DD and BD invested a total of$474,000 through Cherry. 
BD and DD understood from Cherry that their funds had been invested in a portfolio ofsecurities 
with a third-party money manager. DD and BD testified that Cherry indicated that their 
investments woul~ generate $4,700 per month in incmne. 

On June 3, 2009, DD signed a Client Account Form to open an account with WGS. The 
form was signed by Cherry as the registered representative and by a WGS supervisor. On the 
form, DD indicated that her investment objectives were growth and income, with a moderate risk 
tolerance and long-tenn horizon. DD also represented that she had no prior investment 
experience. In fact, both DD and BD testified that they had never had a brokerage account prior 
to working with Cherry. DD also applied for life insurance with Cherry listed as the registered 
representative on the order ticket. DD, however, was denied coverage for medical reasons. 

B. 	 Cherry Creates the False Appearance that BD's and DD's Funds Are 
Invested in Securities and Makes a Few Interest Payments 

Soon after BD's and DD's initial investment, DD asked Cherry for documentation of the 
investment. In response to this request, BD received an email from an AOL account with a 
document attached purporting to be from an entity called Equitable Investment Strategies 
("Equitable") and signed by an individual named GV. The document was dated July 31,2009, 
welcomed BD as a ''preferred client," and stated that her "investment on April 27th, 2009 of 
$100,000 is a five-year quarterly yielding plan." BD received a similar document from Equitable 
on September 30,2009, also signed by GV. This letter acknowledged her second $250,000 
investment, welcomed her as a client, referred to her investment as a "quarterly yielding plan," 
and stated that her request for monthly distributions would be honored. Both documents 
described her investments as "[a]sset alloc [sic]- 60 month distribution, aggressive growth, auto 
re-newable account, non-distribution." Both documents also referred to the plan type as 
"[ e]quity [b ]uilder" and indicated that "applied interest" would be paid. Neither document 
mentioned any investment in real estate. 

Cherry made sporadic interest payments to BD for approximately one year. The first 
payment, which was made the month after BD received the second confirmation ofher supposed 
investment with Equitable, was on October 19, 2009, for $1,700 and was followed a few days 
later by a check for $3,000. The payments, which varied in amount and timing, continued until 
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November 23, 2010, when ChetTy made a final interest payment of $2,930.84. Cherry paid BD 
total interest payments of$35,764.17. AlJ but one of the payments were made by the Chen·y 
Group or another Cherry family-owned entity called CAJ Marketing.4 One payment for $4,700 
was made on April29, 2010 from Cherry's personal bank account. 

When the interest payments stopped, BD and DD repeatedly attetnpted to contact ChciTy 
by telephone, email and text. Cherry provided a number ofexcuses for why the paytncnts had 
stopped. First, he told BD and DD that the person at Equitable responsible tor making the 
payments had suffered a heart attack, causing confusion in the office. Later, he claimed that the 
IRS had frozen Equitable's accounts, and he also was trying to get back money he had invested 
with Equitable. When DD asked whether they should contact a lawyer, Cherry discouraged this 
and blruned their insistence on immediate repayment for making it tnore difficult for him to 
obtain paytnent. Cherry suggested that they did not understand the complexities of the situation. 
Cherry eventually stopped responding to BD's and DO's calls and etnails. 

C. Cherry Uses BD's and DO's Funds to Purchase a Home in His Wife's Name 

It is undisputed that the funds BD and DD deposited with the Cherry Group were used to 
purchase the Florida House, the hotne in which Cherry and his wife had been living. The hon1e 
was titled in Cherry's wife's nrune. Cherry, however, claimed he had no involvement in that 
transaction and has offered various contradictory explanations for how it came about. During 
FINRA's investigation, he claimed that DO and BD invested their funds with Equitable for the 
purpose of making real estate investments, and that GV loaned the money to Cherry's wife to 
purchase the Florida House without Cherry's knowledge. At the hearing, Cherry changed his 
story and admitted that he knew about the supposed loan to his wife. It appears that he did so 
because Market Regulation introduced emails between Cherry and a mortgage broker showing 
that Cherry was involved with the purchase of the Florida House. He continued to deny, 
however, any involvement in the transaction and claimed that the transaction came about because 
BD and DD invested in the Cherry Group, an entity controlled by Cherry's wife, for the purpose 
ofmaking real estate investments. In this version, Equitable and GV had no involvement, and 
Cherry does not explain the Equitable documents sent to BD. 

BD and DD testified that they intended for their funds to be invested in securities and 
knew nothing about the Florida House purchase or any other real estate investment. They also 
testified that they never had any business dealings with Cherry's wife, and had never even 

CAJ Marketing is a Florida corporation that was incorporated by Cherry on April 30, 
2009. At the time of incorporation, CAJ Marketing had two directors-Cherry and one of the 
individuals from whom Cherry purchased the Florida House. The Florida House was listed as 
the principal address for CAJ Marketing, and Cherry was listed as its registered agent. The 
record includes a document dated May 14, 2009, in which Cherry unilaterally purports to elect 
his wife as sole director and 100% owner of CAJ Marketing, and specifically gives Cherry's wife 
authority to open bank accounts for the company. The document was signed by Cherry as 
director and secretary, but does not include the signature of the other director. 

http:of$35,764.17
http:2,930.84
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spoken to her with the exception of a greeting. It is undisputed that there are no documents 
evidencing any loan by BD or DD, or any evidence of a security or other interest for BD and DD 
in the Florida House. 

D. BD and DD C01nplain, and Cherry Is Terminated by WGS 

Unable to obtain the return of their investment from Cherry, DD contacted WGS to 
complain. DD spoke with WGS 's Chief Cotnpliance Officer ("CCO"), who began an 
investigation. WGS's CCO testified that she located DO's customer records in WGS's computer 
database, and spoke with Cherry several times about the complaint. She asked Cherry for 
various docmncnts and asked to speak with Cherry's wife and GV. 

Cherry was generally uncooperative during the investigation. He failed to provide many 
of the requested documents or provided documents with important information redacted. He 
claimed his wife did not want to speak with the CCO, and that GV wanted the CCO to speak 
with his attorney. Despite a number of requests, however, Cherry never provided contact 
information for Equitable, GV, or his attorney, and the CCO testified that she was unable to 
identify avon her own. On Aprill9, 2011, the CCO sent Cherry an email terminating him. In 
the Form US filed by WaS for Cherry, was stated that he had been terminated because he had 
not been "forthcoming" in connection with the investigation. 

BD and DD eventually filed an arbitration claim against World Financial and Cherry. 
World Financial settled with BD and DD for $300,000, but the arbitration claim against Cherry 
is still pending. 

E. Cherry Fails to Disclose His Outside Business Activities to WGS 

During the course of its investigation ofBD's and DD's complaint, WGS learned that 
Cherry had failed to disclose certain outside business activities. In 2007, Cherry disclosed to 
WGS in writing that he was a "member" or "partner" of the Cherry Group, and that he was an 
"independent contractor." In this disclosure, Cherry also stated that he had not discussed his 
affiliation with the Cherry Group with any WGS customer, and that he had not marketed, 
solicited, or sold any product or service of the Cherry Group to any was customer. He also 
stated that he had taken steps to ensure that "everyone" understood that the Cherry Group was 
not affiliated with WGS. During WGS's investigation, Cherry claimed that, despite his earlier 
disclosures, he only took control of the Cherry Group in 2010, and was not responsible for it 
prior to that time. 

Cherry never disclosed the existence ofCAJ Marketing to WGS at all. Cherry argued 
that he was not required to disclose it because his wife owned the company. 

In 2006, Cherry disclosed Equitable to WGS as an outside business activity. In that 
disclosure, Cherry represented that he was hired by Equitable as a speaker at real estate seminars, 
and that he had not discussed this affiliation with any WGS customer. He also represented that 
he had not marketed, solicited, or sold any Equitable product or service to any WGS customer. 
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IV. Discussion 

On appeal, Cherry alternately relies on various barriers and obfuscations he created to 
distance hitnselffrom the purchase of the Florida House and argues that BD and DD intended to 
invest in real estate. We reject these arguments. As discussed below, we find that BD and DD 
deposited 1noney with the Cherry Group at Cherry's direction to invest in a portfolio of 
securities. Instead of investing the funds as agreed, Cherry engaged in a deceptive scheme 
intended to mislead BD and DO into believing that their funds had been invested in securities as 
directed when, in fact, Cherry had used their funds to purchase a home titled in his wife's name. 

A. BD and DD Intended to Invest in Securities 

The crux of Cherry's defense is that BD and DD intended to invest their funds in real 
estate. With respect to how their funds came to be used to purchase the Florida House 
specifically, he has made several contradictory claims. He first claimed that, unbeknownst to 
him, Equitable and GV loaned the tnoney to Cherry's wife. Later, he admitted that he did know 
about the loan but claimed that BD and DD deposited their funds in the Cherry Group to invest 
in real estate transactions, and that the Cherry Group "allowed" the funds to be used by his wife 
to purchase the Florida House. He also has claimed that his wife, BD and DD arranged for the 
loan directly. Cherry admitted that there are no documents evidencing any loan by BD and DD, 
or any interest for thetn in the Florida House. 

BD and DD, on the other hand, consistently testified that they intended for their money to 
be invested in a portfolio of securities, and that they knew nothing about the use of their funds to 
purchase the Florida House. BD and DO testified that after the downturn in the real estate 
market, they were seeking to diversify their investments and needed an investment that would 
provide income for BD, who was planning to retire. They testified that they deposited their 
funds with the Cherry Group at Cherry's direction for the purpose of investing in securities. 
They claimed never to have spoken to Cherry's wife, aside from a possible greeting. They also 
maintained that they were real estate experts and would not have needed Cherry to make a real 
estate investment. They testified, rather, that they relied on Cherry for his securities expertise. 

The outcome of this matter rests largely on the resolution of this testimonial conflict. The 
Hearing Panel found BD's and DD's testimony to be credible and found Cherry not credible. 
While we conduct a de novo review of the Hearing Panel's decision, we give substantial weight 
and deference to the Hearing Panel's credibility findings. See Eliezer Gurfel, 54 S.E.C. 56, 62 
n.ll (1999), aff'd, 205 F.3d 400 (2000). It is well settled that the "credibility determinations of 
an initial fact-finder, which are based on the hearing ofwitnesses' testimony and observing their 
demeanor, are entitled to considerable weight and deference, and can be overcome only where 
the record contains substantial evidence for doing so." John Montelbano, 56 S.E.C. 76, 89 
(2003), appeal denied, 2011 U.S. App, LEXIS 18428 (2d Cir. 2011). We find no substantial 
evidence in the record to warrant overturning the Hearing Panel's credibility determinations. To · 
the contrary, the record amply supports those findings, and we affirm them. 

Cherry's various explanations for how his customers' money was used to purchase the 
home in which he and his wife lived are replete with contradictions and inconsistencies and 
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make no sen~e in light o~the recor~ evidence. For exrunple, Cherry's stories at the hearing-that 
BD and DD Invested their funds w1th the Cherry Group, that the Cherry Group was authorized to 
use the funds to purchase the Florida House, and that his wife alone arranged a loan with BD and 
D~ntradicted his earlier on-the-record testimony during FINRA 's investigation in which he 
claimed that, unbeknownst to him, Equitable and GV loaned BD's and DO's funds to his wife. 

Cherry's story at the hearing also makes no sense in light of the documents BD received 
from Equitable. The documents, which indicate an investment in securities, were sent after DD 
asked Cherry for evidence of their investment, and, accordingly, must have been arranged by or 
sent on behalf of Cherry. These docmnents, which were sent from a nondescript AOL account, 
were fraudulent because there never was any investment with Equitable. 5 Indeed, Cherry never 
called anyone from Equitable to testifY and failed to provide his firm with any contact 
information for Equitable or its supposed representative, GV. Moreover, the excuses Cherry 
gave BD and DD when the interest payments stopped-i.e., that the person responsible for 
making the payments at Equitable had suffered a heart attack and that Equitable's accounts had 
been frozen-were patently false in light ofhis testimony at the hearing that BD's and DD's 
investtnent stayed with the Cherry Group, and underscores Cherry's lack of credibility. 

Cherry's testimony is also suspect because of the many barriers he purposely erected to 
avoid responsibility for his misconduct. For example, to distance himself from the interest 
payments made to BD, he unilaterally transferred control ofCAJ Marketing to his wife, claimed 
his wife controlled the Cherry Group, and even blamed his wife for making an interest payment 
from his personal bank account. He emphasized the fact that the Florida House is titled in his 
wife's name alone, and stated that this is the reason he could not return BD's and DD's money. 
He also relied on the fact that he never provided any documents to BD and DD evidencing a 
securities investment and that the Equitable documents did not appear to come from him or bear 
his name. 

Finally, Cherry offers no explanation for why BD and DD did not complain after 
receiving the Equitable documents if they actually intended to invest in real estate. Nor does he 
explain why two experienced real estate professionals would make such an investment without 
any documentation or retaining some interest in the property. In short, Cherry's self-serving and 
uncorroborated testimony is not credible in light of the record evidence. 

For these reasons, we affirm the Hearing Panel's determination that Cherry is not 
credible, and we credit the testimony of BD and DD. Accordingly, we find that BD and DD 
intended for their money to be invested in a portfolio of income-producing securities, and that 
Cherry took their funds and used them to purchase the Florida House without their knowledge or 
authorization. 

The Hearing Panel raised questions about the authenticity of a nmnber of docmnents 
introduced by Cherry, including a document purporting to be signed by his wife but in which her 
first name is misspelled. 

5 
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B. 	 Chen-y Converted BD's and DO's Funds for His Personal Use 

1. 	 Cherry Converted BD's and DO's Funds for His Own Benefit 
in Violation of FINRA Rule 20 I 0 

FINRA Rule 201 0 requires associated persons to conduct their business in accordance 
with "high standards ofcommercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade." FINRA 
Rule 2010 encompasses all unethical, business-related conduct, even if that conduct is not in 
connection with a securities transaction. See Denise M. Olson, Complaint No. 2010023349601, 
2014 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 7, at *7 (FINRA Bd. of Governors May 9, 2014), appeal docketed, 
Admin. Proc. File No. 3-15916 (SEC June 9, 2014); see also Vail v. SEC, 101 F.3d 37, 39 (5th 
Cir. I 996) (aftinning the SEC's finding that an associated person violated just and equitable 
principles of trade by tnisappropriating funds from a political organization for which he served as 
the treasurer). 

Conversion is defined as "an intentional and unauthorized taking of and/or exercise of 
ownership over property by one who neither owns the property nor is entitled to possess it." 
John Edward Mullins, Exchange Act Release No. 66373,2012 SEC LEXIS 464, at *33 (Feb. 10, 
2012). It is well-settled that conversion violates FINRA Rule 2010. See Olson, 2014 FINRA 
Discip. LEXIS 7, at *8 (finding that a registered representative's conversion of firm funds 
violated Rule 2010); Mullins, 2012 SEC LEXIS 464, at *74 (finding that a registered 
representative's conversion of the funds of a foundation for which he served as an officer 
violated NASD Rule 2110, the predecessor to FINRA Rule 201 0). 

We find that Cherry converted BD's and DO's funds to purchase a home in his wife's 
name. BD and DD transferred their funds to the Cherry Group at Cherry's direction for the 
purpose of investing in securities. Cherry, however, intentionally took those funds and used 
them to purchase the house in which he and his wife were living. He did so without 
authorization from BD and DD. Cherry's misconduct was unethical and violated just and 
equitable principles of trade and high standards of commercial honor. Accordingly, we find that 
Cherry converted funds in violation ofFINRA Rule 2010. 

2. 	 Cherry's Conversion of Customer Funds Also Violated 
NASD Rule 2330(a) and FINRA Rules 2150{a) and 2010 

FINRA Rule 2150(a) (and its predecessor NASD Rule 2330(a)) provides that "[n]o 
member or person associated with a member shall make improper use of a customer's securities 
or funds."6 The Hearing Panel found that Cherry violated NASD Rule 2330(a) and FINRA Rule 
2150(a) when he used BD's and DD's funds to purchase the Florida House, and that his violation 

NASD Rule 2330(a) applies to Cherry's misconduct prior to December 14, 2009. 
FINRA Rule 2150(a) applies to his misconduct occurring on or after December 14, 2009. See 
FIRNA Regulatory Notice 09-60, 2009 FINRA LEXIS 171 (Oct. 2009). 

6 
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ofFINRA Rule 2150(a) also constituted a violation ofFINRA Rule 2010. 7 Cherry argues that 
NASD Rule 2330(a) and FINRA Rule 21 SO(a) do not apply because the funds invested belonged 
to BD, and BD was not his customer. We disa!,'Tee, and find that both BD and DD were Cherry's 
customers. 

FINRA Rule 0160(b)(4) defines "custotner" broadly, only excluding brokers and dealers 
from the definition of a customer. In the context of the applicability of the suitability rule, a 
customer relationship can arise "when a broker recommends a security to a potential investor, 
even if that potential custotner does not have an account at the finn." See FINRA Regulatory 
Notice 12-25,2012 FINRA LEXIS 32, at *21 (May 2012). 

The case law also supports a broad definition of"customer" to include people with even 
informal business relationships with registered representatives and does not require the actual 
opening of an account. See, e.g., WMA Sec., Inc. v. Ruppert, 80 F. Supp. 2d 786, 788-89 (S.D. 
Ohio 1999) (finding a customer relationship existed where the customer never opened an account 
and the registered representative sold the customer products not approved by the firm). It is 
sufficient that the custotner is solicited to become a customer and that the customer turns over 
funds to the registered representative. See Oppenheimer & Co. v. Neidhardt, 56 F.3d 352, 357 
(2d Cir. 1995) (finding a customer relationship where customers were solicited and turned over 
funds for investment); Dep 't ofEnforcement v. Zayed, Complaint No. 2006003834901, 2010 
FINRA Discip. LEXIS 13, at *18-20 (FINRA NAC Aug. 19, 2010) (rejecting a registered 
representative's claim that no customer relationship was established where no account was 
opened and no securities were sold to them); Dep 't ofEnforcement v. Am. First Assocs. Corp., 
Complaint No. El020040926, 2008 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 27, at *21-22 (FINRA NAC Aug. 15, 
2008) (finding a customer relationship where no account was ever opened), aff'd sub nom. 
Joseph Ricupero, Exchange Act Release No. 62891,2010 SEC LEXIS 2988 (Sept. 10, 2010). It 
is not necessary that there be an actual purchase or sale of securities for a customer relationship 
to exist. See, e.g., Lehman Bros., Inc. v. Certified Reporting Co., 939 F. Supp. 1333, 1340 (N.D. 
Ill. 1996) (noting that "customer" is defined broadly and finding a customer relationship where a 
registered representative recommended a security, but plaintiffs did not purchase it through 
him).8 

7 It is well settled that a violation of another FINRA rule, including FINRA Rule 2150(a), 
is a violation of FINRA Rule 2010. See William J. Murphy, Exchange Act Release No. 69923, 
2013 SEC LEXIS 1933, at *26 n.29 (July 2, 2013) (stating that "a violation ofanother 
Commission or NASD rule or regulation ... constitutes a violation of[FINRA Rule 2010]"), 
aff'd sub nom. Birkelbach v. SEC, 751 F.3d 472 (11th Cir. 2014). 

8 Cherry's reliance on Department ofEnforcement v. Gulley, Complaint No. C05990034, 
2000 NASD Discip. LEXIS 25 (NASD Hearing Panel June 5, 2000), is misplaced because that 
case does not address the scope ofNASD Rule 2330(a). Moreover, the NAC is not bound by a 
hearing panel's decision. 
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Cherry had sufficient contacts with BD and DD to establish a customer relationship with 
both of them. Cherry presented DO with the Dream Map (a WGS document), and she opened an 
account with Cherry at WGS. DO's new client documents were si~:,rned by Cherry and a 
supervisor. Cherry signed and submitted an order ticket to purchase a life insurance product for 
DD. BD also met with Cherry and he presented her with a Dream Map. Most importantly, she 
and her daughter turned over their funds to Cherry for investment in securities, including funds 
that Cherry helped BD obtain through a reverse mortgage. Under these circumstances, we find 
that a customer relationship was established with both BD and DD. Accordingly, when Cherry 
used his cust01ners' funds to purchase Florida House rather than investing thetn in securities as 
BD and DD had directed, he tnade improper use of customer funds in violation ofNASD Rule 
2330(a) and FINRA Rules 2150(a) and 2010. 

3. Cherry's Misconduct Also Constituted Securities Fraud 

We also find that Cherry wi1lfully committed securities fraud in violation of Exchange 
Act§ IO(b), Exchange Act Rule lOb-5, and FINRA Rules 2020 and 2010, and that these 
violations constitute an alternative basis for the sanctions imposed. 9 Section I O(b) is violated 
when a person, acting with scienter, misrepresents or omits material facts in connection with a 
securities transaction. See Alvin W. Gebhart, Jr., Exchange Act Release No. 58951, 2008 SEC 
LEXIS 3142, at 23 (Nov. 14, 2008), qff'd, 595 FJd 1034 (9th Cir. 2010). In addition to 
misrepresentations or omissions, Exchange Act Rule 1 Ob-5 prohibits any "device, scheme or 
artifice to defraud" or any conduct that would "operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person." 17 
C.F.R. 240.10b-5; see also SEC v. Monarch Funding Corp., 192 F.3d 295,308 (2d Cir. 1999) 
(stating that to have violated Exchange Act§ IO(b) and Rule lOb-S a respondent must have made 
a material misrepresentation or omission, or used a fraudulent device). Scienter is defined as "a 
mental state embracing intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud." See Ernst & Ernst v. 
Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 193, n.12 (1976). The materiality requirement is met where the 
deception involves information withheld or misrepresented that a reasonable investor would 
consider important. See Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 240 (1988). 

We find that Cherry's conduct violated these provisions when he intentionally engaged in 
a fraudulent scheme to convert $474,000 from his customers. Cherry directed BD and DD to 
deposit their funds with the Cherry Group for the purpose of investing in securities, and instead 
used their funds to purchase the Florida House in his wife's name. Cherry led his customers to 
believe that their funds had been invested as directed by making supposed interest payments, 
causing false documentation of their purported investment to be sent to them, and lying to them 
about the reasons why their funds could not be returned. Cherry's deceptive conduct was 
intentional and the information he withheld and misrepresented to his customers-i.e., that he 
intended to use their funds to purchase the home in which he was living-was material. 

As a result of this finding of a willful violation, Cherry is also subject to statutory 
disqualification under Article III, Section 4 ofthe FINRA By-Laws. 

9 
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Cherry argues that Market Regulation failed to detnonstrate the requirement of § 1O(b) 
and Rule 1 Ob-5 that his conduct be "in connection with" a securities transaction because the 
funds transferred to the Cherry Group by BD and DD were not tor the purpose ofpurchasing 
securities and no actual securities were purchased. As discussed above, we find that BD and DD 
intended for their funds to be invested in securities. Moreover, it is well-settled that the "in 
connection with" requirement is met where, as here, a broker accepts payment for securities that 
he never intends to deliver. See, e.g., Grippo v. Perazzo, 351 F.3d 1218, 1223-24 (11th Cir. 
2004) (holding that the "in connection with" requirement had been met even though no security 
had been purchased because the defendant had accepted and deposited plaintiffs tnoney for the 
payment of securities); SEC v. Lauer, 52 F.3d 667, 670 (7th Cir. 1995) (finding that the "in 
connection with" requirement was met where no security was sold and noting that "[i]t would be 
a considerable paradox if the worse the securities fraud, the less applicable the securities laws"); 
Kenneth Leo Bauer, 26 S.E.C. 770, 773 (1947) (finding a willful violation of§ IO(b) and Rule 
1Ob-5 where respondent did not purchase securities with customers' funds, and instead converted 
the funds); see also SEC v. Zanjord, 535 U.S. 813 (2002) (stating that there need not be an actual 
purchase or sale of securities to fulfill the requirement that the fraud be "in connection with the 
purchase or sale of securities"). Accordingly, we find that the "in connection with a purchase or 
sale of securities" requiretnent is met because BD and DD deposited their funds with Cherry for 
the purpose ofpurchasing securities. 

Cherry's fraudulent conduct also violated FINRA Rule 2020, which provides that "[n]o 
member shall effect any transaction in, or induce the purchase or sale of, any security by means 
of any manipulative, deceptive or other fraudulent device or contrivance." Under FINRA Rule 
0140, FINRA Rule 2020 applies to associated persons as well as metnbers. Any violation of 
Exchange Act § 1O(b) and Rule 1 Ob-5 also violates FINRA Rule 2020, which covers an even 
broader range of fraudulent conduct. See Dep 't ofEnforcement v. Fillet, 2008011762801, 2013 
FINRA Discip. LEXIS 26, at *38-9 (FINRA NAC Oct. 2, 2013), appeal docketed, Admin. Proc. 
File No. 3-15601 (SEC Nov. 1, 2013). A violation of any regulation or FINRA rule, including 
FINRA Rule 2020, is also a violation ofFINRA Rule 2010. See Murphy, 2013 SEC LEXIS 
1933, at *26 n.29. Accordingly, Cherry's misconduct violated FINRA Rules 2020 and 2010. 

C. 	 Cherry Engaged in Outside Business Activities Without Disclosing Them to His 
Finn in Violation ofNASD Rule 3030 and FINRA Rules 3270 and 2010 

FINRA Rule 3270 (and its predecessor NASD Rule 3030) provides that associated 
persons cannot engage in outside business activities without providing ''prior written notice" to 
their firm in the form required by the finn. 10 Cherry violated these rules when he conducted 
business through the Cherry Group and CAJ Marketing without making the required written 
disclosures to WGS. Cherry used the Cherry Group to raise money from BD and DD, and used 

1° FINRA Rule 3270 is applicable to Cherry's violations which occurred on or after 
December 15,2010. NASD Rule 3030 applies to his misconduct prior to December 15,2010, 
and requires "prompt written notice" of outside business activities. See FINRA Regulatory 
Notice 10-49, 2010 FINRA LEXIS 96 (Oct. 2010). 
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both entities to make interest payments to BD and DD. These activities were outside the scope 
ofhis relationship with WGS., and contributed to his fraudulent scheme and conversion ofBD's 
and DO's funds. 

Cherry did not disclose any of his involvement with CAJ Marketing to WGS. With 
respect to the Cherry Group, Cherry's disclosures to WGS were false and misleading. In his 
2007 disclosure of the Cherry Group, Cherry represented that he was not marketing the Cherry 
Group's products and services to WGS customers, and that customers understood the distinction 
between WGS and the Cherry Group. Cherry, however, used WGS materials to solicit funds 
frmn BD and DD, who believed the funds would be invested in a portfolio of securities, and 
directed them to deposit these funds with the Cherry Group. He also used the Cherry Group and 
CAJ Marketing to conceal his misconduct and lull his custotners into thinking their funds had 
been invested in securities by using them to tnake purported interest payments to BD. 
Accordingly., we find that Cherry violated NASD Rule 3030 and FINRA Rules 3270 and 2010. 

V. Sanctions 

We have considered FINRA' s Sanction Guidelines ("Guidelines") 11 in determining the 
appropriate sanctions for Cherry's violations. For the reasons set forth below, we affirm the bars 
and modify the restitution and disgorgement orders. 

A. A Bar Is the Appropriate Sanction for Cherry's Conversion ofCustomer Funds 

The Guidelines direct that the standard sanction for conversion is a bar, regardless of the 
amount converted. 12 The conversion ofcustomer assets is one of the most serious violations that 
can be committed by an associated person. Conversion is antithetical to the ethical principles 
that underpin the self-regulation of securities markets, and it is misconduct that ''poses so 
substantial a risk to investors and/or the market as to render the violator unfit for employment in 
the securities industry, and a bar in therefore an appropriate remedy." Mullins, 2012 SEC LEXIS 
464, at *74. 13 The sanction ofa bar for Cherry's conversion is supported by the presence of 
numerous applicable aggravating factors. 14 

II See FINRA Sanction Guidelines (2013), http://www.fi.nraorglweb/groups/industry/@ip/ 
@enfl@sgldocuments/industry/pO 1103 8.pdf [hereinafter Guidelines]. 

12 Jd. at 36. 

13 For improper use of funds in violation ofNASD Rule 2330(a) and FINRA Rule 2150(a), 
the Guidelines recommend a bar unless the improper use resulted from a misunderstanding ofthe 
intended use of the funds, or other mitigation exists. See Guidelines, at 36. We find that there 
was no such misunderstanding or other mitigating factors. Accordingly, the sanction of a bar is 
also appropriate based on Cherry's violation of these rules. 

14 We have reviewed the record, and find no applicable mitigating factors. 

mailto:http://www.fi.nraorglweb/groups/industry/@ip
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We find it aggravating that Cherry's violations involved the conversion of almost half a 
million dollars from unsophisticated cust01ners and resulted in a significant financial benefit to 
him. 15 Neither BD nor DO had experience investing in securities, and BD was elderly and 
trusted Cherry. It is further aggravating that Cherry's conversion of funds occurred over the 
course of two years, involved four separate acts of conversion, and was intentional and wi1Iful. 16 

It is also aggravating that Cherry concealed his misconduct from his customers by making 
purported interest payments, by his connection to the false statements purportedly from 
Equitable suggesting that a securities investment had been made, and through his lies to DD and 
BD about Equitable's role and why Equitable had purportedly stopped making payments. 17 

Fina1Iy, we find it aggravating that Cherry has not acknowledged any wrong-doing, was 
dishonest and not tbrthcotning during FINRA's investigation, and has blocked any attetnpt to 
make restitution to his customers by titling the home he purchased with their money in his wife's 
name.' 8 

Cherry's violations are so antithetical to the conduct required of securities professionals 
that we find him unfit for continued employment in the securities industry. According!~, we 
affirm the sanction of a bar in all capacities for Cherry's conversion of customer funds. 9 

B. The Pending Arbitration Does Not Preclude Restitution 

The Hearing Panel ordered Cherry to pay BD and DD $174,000 as restitution-the 
amount converted by Cherry less the amount they received from their settlement with WGS. 
Restitution is "used to restore the status quo ante where a victim otherwise would unjustly suffer 
loss. "20 The Guidelines provide that restitution may be ordered when an identifiable person has 
suffered a quantifiable loss caused by respondent's misconduct.21 

15 Guidelines, at 6-7 (Principal Considerations in Determining Sanctions, Nos. 11, 17, 19). 

16 /d. (Principal Considerations in Determining Sanctions, Nos. 8, 9, 13). 

17 /d. at 6 (Principal Considerations in Determining Sanctions, No. 1 0). 

18 Jd. at 6-7 (Principal Considerations in Determining Sanctions, Nos. 2, 4, 12). 

19 Cherry's violations of Exchange Act § 1O(b), Exchange Act Rule 1 Ob-5 and FINRA Rule 
2020 serve as an alternative basis for the sanctions imposed. We consider the Guidelines for 
misrepresentations or material omissions of fact in determining the sanctions for these violations. 
Guidelines, at 88. The Guidelines recommend that an adjudicator consider a bar in egregious 
cases involving intentional or reckless misconduct. !d. We find that Cherry's intentional 
misconduct was egregious and a bar is appropriate on these alternative grounds. 

20 Guidelines, at 4 (General Principles Applicable to All Sanction Detenninations, No. 5). 

21 /d. 

http:misconduct.21
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Restitution is appropriate to remediate Cherry's misconduct. BD and DD suffered a 
significant loss as a direct result ofCherry's conversion of their funds. The record clearly 
identifies that amount of this loss. While Cherry's firm's settlement with BD and DD 
compensated the1n for part of that loss, they have not been made whole for a significant portion 
of it. Accordingly, an order of restitution is appropriate to c01npensate the1n. However, we 
modifY the restitution order to credit the interest payments made by Cherry to BD, and order 
Cherry to pay restitution to BD and DD in the amount of $138,235.83, plus prejudgment 
interest.22 

Cherry argues that an order of restitution is not appropriate because BD and DD have a 
pending arbitration against him. We disagree. We have the authority to order restitution in a 
disciplinary tnatter, and we know of no authority that supports the proposition that we should 
refrain from doing so when there is a pending arbitration. See Dep 't ofE~forcement v. Siegel, 
Complaint No. C05020055, 2007 NASD Discip. LEXIS 20, at *62 n.53 (NASD NAC May 11, 
2007) (noting the absence of authority supporting refraining from awarding restitution when an 
arbitration is pending), aff'd, Exchange Act Release No. 58737, 2008 SEC LEXIS 2459 (Oct. 6, 
2008), rev'd, 592 F.3d 147 (D.C. Cir. 2010).23 

C. Disgorgement 

The Hearing Panel ordered Cherry to pay $300,000 to FINRA as disgorgement ofhis ill
gotten gains. The Guidelines recommend that adjudicators consider a respondent's ill-gotten 
gain when determining an appropriate remedy, and provide that disgorgement may be 
appropriate where ''the record demonstrates that the respondent obtained a financial benefit from 
his or her misconduct. "24 The purpose ofdisgorgement is to prevent unjust enrichment, and it is 
an appropriate remedy where a respondent has converted customer funds. See Dep 't of 
Enforcement v. Mission Sec. Corp., Complaint No. 2006003738501, 2010 FINRA Discip. 
LEXIS 1, at *48 (FINRA NAC Feb. 24, 2010), a.ff'd, Exchange Ac Release No. 63453,2010 
SEC LEXIS 4053 (Dec. 7, 201 0). 

22 To prevent any windfall benefits, we order that the restitution award be offset by any 
restitution that, as of the date of this decision, has already been ordered in BD's and DD's 
pending arbitration case against Cherry. 

23 We have considered and reject Cherry's argument that a restitution order is also 
inappropriate because the Hearing Panel excluded 24 ofhis proffered exhibits. FINRA Rule 
9263(a) provides that a Hearing Officer ''may exclude all evidence that is irrelevant, immaterial, 
unduly repetitious, or unduly prejudicial." The excluded exhibits concerned transactions 
unrelated to the facts of this case and were properly excluded on relevance grounds. 

24 Guidelines, at 5. The Guidelines also specifically recommend disgorgement for Cherry's 
outside business activities violations. /d. at 13 n.l. 

http:138,235.83
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Cherry argues that he did not benefit from the conversion ofBD's and DO's funds 
because the Florida House is titled in his wife's name, and, therefore, disgorgement is not 
appropriate. We disagree. Cherry admitted that he lives in the home and the record shows that 
he and his wife took a first-tilne homebuyer's tax credit on their joint federal income taxes based 
on the purchase of the Florida House. Cherry should not be permitted to retain his ill-gotten 
gains because he purposely titled the house in his wife's nan1e to avoid responsibility for his 
misconduct. Accordingly, we find that disgorgement in the amount of $300,000 is an 
appropriate remedy for Cherry's violations. We also order Cherry to pay prejudgment interest 
on the disgorgement amount. 

D. 	 Cherry's Outside Business Activities Violations Were Egregious 

and a Bar Is Appropriate 


The Hearing Panel found that Cherry's outside business activities violations were 
egregious and imposed a bar. We agree and affinn. 

For outside business activities violations, the Guidelines recommend imposing a fine 
between $2,500 and $50,000 and indicate that adjudicators tnay also order disgorgement.25 The 
Guidelines further recommend that adjudicators consider a suspension ofup to 30 days if the 
violations do not involve aggravating conduct, a suspension ofup to one year when there is 
aggravating conduct, and a longer suspension or bar in egregious cases, including cases 
involving a substantial volume of activity or a significant injury to customers.26 

A number of aggravating factors apply to Cherry's misconduct Chew's outside 
business activities involved customers and caused significant injury to them.2 His violations 
occurred over a period of two years, and a1lowed him to benefit from the conversion ofa large 
amount of customer money?8 Cherry's use ofWGS marketing tools created the impression that 
he was selling a product approved by his firm. 29 Cherry concealed his outside business activities 
from his finn by failing to disclose his involvement with CAJ Marketing, and making a false and 
misleading disclosure concerning the Cherry Group.3° Finally, Cherry's outside business 

25 	 Guidelines, at 13. 

26 	 /d. 

27 /d. at 7 (Principal Considerations in Determining Sanctions, No. 11), 13 (Principal 
Considerations in Determining Sanctions, Nos. 1, 2). 

28 Jd. at 7 (Principal Considerations in Determining Sanctions, Nos. 8, 9, 17), 13 (Principal 
Considerations in Determining Sanctions, No.3). 

29 	 /d. at 13 (Principal Considerations in Determining Sanctions, No. 4). 

30 Jd. (Principal Considerations in Determining Sanctions, No. 5). The fact that Cherry's 
disclosure may have been accurate at the time it was made is not relevant. When he used the 

[Footnote continued on next page] 

http:customers.26
http:disgorgement.25
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activities violations are egregious because they enabled him to perpetuate his fraudulent schetne 
resulting in the conversion of cust01ner funds. 

Considering these aggravating factors, we find that Cherry's violations are egregious and 
a bar is the appropriate sanction. 

VI. Conclusion 

We find that Cherry misused and converted custotner funds in violation of FINRA Rules 
2010 and 2150(a), and NASD Rule 2330(a). His conversion of customer funds also violated 
Exchange Act§ lO(b), Exchange Act Rule lOb-S, and FINRA Rules 2020 and 2010. For these 
violations we bar Cherry in all capacities and order him to pay restitution to BD and DD in the 
amount of$138,235.83 (along with prejudgment interest on any unpaid balance starting on 
December I, 201 0, until restitution is paid in full), and to pay FINRA $300,000 in disgorgement 
(alon~ with prejudgment on any unpaid balance starting on December 1, 2009, until paid in 
full). 1 We further find that Cherry engaged in outside business activities without providing 
written notice to his firm in violation ofNASD Rule 3030 and FINRA Rules 3270 and 2010, and 
impose a separate bar in all capacities for these violations. Finally, we affirm the Hearing 
Panel's order that Cherry pay hearing costs of$3,860.71.32 

O~i~l ,Adjudicatory Cr 
Marcia E. Asquith 
Senior Vice President and Corporate 

[Cont'd] 

Cherry Group to obtain funds from customers, his disclosure became false and misleading and he 
was obligated to correct it. 

31 Prejudgment interest shall be paid at the rate established for the underpayment of incotne 
taxes in Section 662l(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. § 662l(a). 

32 The bars are effective as of the date of this decision. 

http:of$3,860.71.32
http:of$138,235.83

